IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-553

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0899641

SUZANNE D. MYERS Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0150177

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 NE 3d Avenue Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Lightbourne was convicted of first-degree murder in the circuit court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Marion County (R. 1436), and was sentenced to death (R. 1500). Mr. Lightbourne's conviction and sentence of death were affirmed by this Court on direct appeal. Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983). Justice Overton dissented and would have granted Mr. Lightbourne a new trial based on a Henry violation:

I reluctantly dissent because I find the recent United States Supreme Court decision in <u>United States v. Henry</u>, 447 U.S. 264 (1980), mandates a reversal under the circumstances of this case. A jailhouse informer was placed in a cell adjacent to appellant's and was requested to keep his ears open. The investigating officer understood that the informant expected something in return for his information, and the informant was paid two hundred dollars in cash, in addition to being released nineteen days early in return for his services. These factors make the informant an agent of the state under the dictates of <u>Henry</u>, which requires suppression of the statements made by the appellant to the informant in the absence of <u>Miranda</u> warnings. I find we have no choice but to grant a new trial.

Id. at 392 (Overton, J., dissenting).

Mr. Lightbourne thereafter sought postconviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. No evidentiary hearing was afforded, and this Court affirmed the summary denial of relief. <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985). Justices Overton, McDonald, and Shaw, dissented. <u>Id</u>. at 29.

Mr. Lightbourne thereafter sought relief in the federal courts. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of federal habeas corpus relief, over the ardent dissent of Judge Anderson, who found that the <u>Henry</u> violation warranted a resentencing:

1

[T]he error is not harmless with regard to sentencing. Chavers' testimony contained the only direct evidence of oral sexual assault on the victim as well as the only graphic descriptions of the sexual attack and comments by the defendant about the victim's anatomy. Since this evidence would support the existence of an aggravating circumstance, and since it was likely to have been influential with the jury on the sentencing issue, I cannot conclude that the testimony was harmless with regard to sentencing.

Lightbourne v. Dugger, 829 F. 2d 1012, 1035 (11th Cir. 1987) (Anderson, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part).

On January 30, 1989, Mr. Lightbourne filed his second Rule 3.850 motion, alleging new information establishing a <u>Brady</u><sup>1</sup> violation with respect to jailhouse informants Chavers and Carson. This Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing. <u>Lightbourne v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989). Evidentiary hearings were held in circuit court in 1990. On April 17, 1991, Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion to reopen the evidentiary hearing, which was granted. An additional evidentiary hearing was conducted. The circuit court denied relief on June 12, 1992, and Mr. Lightbourne appealed. This Court affirmed. <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 1994).

On November 7, 1994, Mr. Lightbourne filed a new Rule 3.850 motion requesting another evidentiary hearing to present additional evidence in support of his <u>Brady</u> claim. A hearing was held on October 23 and 24, 1995. On February 23, 1996, Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion to reopen the hearing to present additional testimony and a motion to disqualify the state attorney. The circuit court held a hearing on these motions on

<sup>1</sup><u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

March 15, 1996, and denied both motions. The circuit court denied relief on June 19, 1996. On appeal, this Court held that Mr. Lightbourne was not barred from presenting the testimony of Larry Bernard Emanuel, an inmate who was incarcerated with Mr. Lightbourne prior to trial, and remanded "for an evidentiary hearing as to Emanuel's testimony and for the trial court to consider the cumulative effect of the post-trial evidence in evaluating the reliability and veracity of Chavers' and Carson's trial testimony in determining whether a new penalty phase is required." Lightbourne v. State, 742 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 1999).

On August 2, 1999, shortly after the issuance of the Court's opinion but before mandate issued, the lower court issued a Notice and Order to Appear for the evidentiary hearing which the court scheduled for August 10, 1999 (PC-R3. Supp. 1404).<sup>2</sup> Mr. Lightbourne immediately filed a motion to vacate the hearing date and reset the evidentiary hearing due to the fact that mandate had not issued and that additional time and notice was needed to prepare for the hearing (<u>Id</u>. at 1410-13). The State objected to rescheduling the hearing because the State had had Mr. Emanuel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Unbeknownst to Mr. Lightbourne's counsel at the time, this order was the result of an *ex parte* communication between Judge Angel's office and a member of the State Attorney's Office. On August 4, 1999, Assistant State Attorney Rock Hooker informed Mr. Lightbourne's counsel that the reason that Judge Angel set the hearing so quickly was that Judge Angel had been concerned that Mr. Emanuel would not be in custody very long in Florida and might be difficult to locate later on (PC-R3. Supp. 1419). Mr. Hooker himself denied imparting this information to Judge Angel (<u>id</u>.); it was later discovered that it was Assistant State Attorney Reginald Black who discussed the Emanuel situation with Judge Angel's judicial assistant, which resulted in the setting of the evidentiary hearing before this Court's mandate had even issued (PC-R3. 96).

arrested in Texas and although he was being transported back to Florida for the hearing, the State feared that Emanuel would not remain in Florida custody for very long (<u>Id</u>. at 1405-08). Mr. Lightbourne later supplemented his motion with the fact that Mr. Emanuel had been brought back to Marion County, where he pled guilty to several misdemeanor charges and sentenced to a year in jail; thus, Mr. Emanuel would be in custody (<u>Id</u>. at 1416-17). By order dated August 6, 1999, the court later reset the evidentiary hearing for October 21, 1999 (PC-R3. 65).

On August 13, 1999, Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion to disqualify Judge Angel due to the *ex parte* communication between his office and the State Attorney's Office (PC-R3. Supp. 1418-24). <u>See supra</u> n.2. On August 18, 1999, the lower court requested that Mr. Lightbourne notice a hearing on the motion to disqualify for October 18, 1999 (PC-R3. Supp. 1425). On September 28, 1999, Mr. Lightbourne supplemented his motion to disqualify, arguing that under the authority of <u>Anderson v. Glass</u>, 727 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), the motion had to be granted due to the delay in excess of thirty (30) days in ruling on the motion, and that no hearing on the motion was requested (PC-R3. 27-30). On October 12, 1999, with no ruling still from the trial court and the evidentiary hearing date looming,<sup>3</sup> Mr. Lightbourne sought a writ of prohibition and mandamus from this Court, requesting that Judge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Because of the pending motion to disqualify and the concomitant failure of Judge Angel to rule on it, Mr. Lightbourne was deprived of court assistance to secure necessary pre-hearing discovery orders as well as witness transportation orders (PC-R3. 51).

Angel be disqualified (PC-R3. 45-55).<sup>4</sup> On October 14, 1999, this Court ordered the State to respond to the writ, which response was filed on October 18, 1999, the same day of the hearing before Judge Angel on the motion to disqualify (<u>Id</u>. at 123-42). Following the October 18 hearing (PC-R3. 79-119), Judge Angel denied the motion, but did reset the evidentiary hearing for December 1 and 2, 1999 (<u>Id</u>. at 118). Two days later, on October 20, 1999, this Court denied Mr. Lightbourne's writ (PC-R3. Supp. 1432).

The evidentiary hearing occurred on December 2, 1999 (PC-R2. 911-1088). Following the submission of post-hearing memoranda from both Mr. Lightbourne (<u>id</u>. at 1095-1326), and the State (<u>id</u>. at 1327-75), and a reply from Mr. Lightbourne (<u>id</u>. at 1379-94), the lower court, by order dated February 26, 2001, denied relief (<u>Id</u>. at 1395-97). A timely notice of appeal was filed (<u>Id</u>. at 1398-99).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup><u>See</u> <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, No. 96,727.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 2, 1999, the lower court heard evidence pursuant to the remand from this Court ordering an evidentiary hearing to include the previously excluded testimony of Larry Bernard Emanuel. The testimony of Mr. Emanuel corroborates the evidence provided in 1990, 1991, 1995 and 1996, that (1) the State recruited inmates, who were housed in the jail with Mr. Lightbourne, to elicit incriminating statements from him, (2) the State withheld material evidence from Mr. Lightbourne, and (3) that the State knowingly presented false evidence at Mr. Lightbourne's trial. The 1999 hearing further established that the State Attorney's Office had a conflict of interest in this matter through the participation of Assistant State Attorney Reginald Black.

Mr. Lightbourne called three witnesses at the evidentiary hearing: Larry Emanuel (PC-R3. 917-1024); Assistant State Attorney Reginald Black (<u>id</u>. at 1026-49); and State Attorney Investigator Richard Deen (<u>Id</u>. at 1052-65). The State called one witness: Major Frederick LaTorre of the Marion County Sheriff's Department (<u>Id</u>. at 1066-77).

Larry Bernard Emanuel. Larry Emanuel was in the Marion County Jail in 1980 and 1981. In 1980, Emanuel was arrested for burglary of a dentist's office and released in December 1980 because the case was dropped (PC-R3. 997). On January 20, 1981, Emanuel was arrested again for burglary of a second dentist's office (PC-R3. 998). It was during this second incarceration that Emanuel met Mr. Lightbourne in the Marion County Jail.

6

While in the Marion County Jail, Emanuel and Mr. Lightbourne shared a cell (PC-R3. 920). Emanuel recalled that Theodore Chavers was also in the same cell (PC-R3. 927). Emanuel had known Chavers for some time prior to 1981 and knew that he had a reputation for "snitching" and doing "a lot of undercover work for the police department" (PC-R3. 928). Emanuel could not remember the names of the other inmates in the cell, but believed he could recognize them if he saw them (Id.). Shortly after Mr. Lightbourne was placed in the cell, Emanuel was approached by law enforcement agents, who asked him to get information as to whether Mr. Lightbourne had murdered someone (PC-R3. 921).<sup>5</sup> The law enforcement officers also informed Emanuel that his burglary charge would be dropped if he could get information from Mr. Lightbourne (PC-R3. 924). Although Emanuel agreed, he was never able to talk to Mr. Lightbourne because Chavers "took up the whole conversation with Lightbourne at the time" (Id.). Emanuel explained that although he did not speak to Mr. Lightbourne specifically about the murder, because of his bed being positioned next to Mr. Lightbourne's he was able to listen to the conversations between Chavers and Mr. Lightbourne (Id.). Emanuel never heard Mr. Lightbourne tell Chavers that he killed anyone Counsel for Mr. Lightbourne questioned Mr. Emanuel repeatedly on this: (Id.).

Q [by Mr. Scher] Okay. At any time during the time you were in that cell with Mr. Lightbourne and Mr. Chavers, did you ever hear Mr. Lightbourne confess to murder?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Emanuel testified that Eddie Scott and "Keith Raym" were the two law enforcement agents he had spoken with (PC-R3. 923). Emanuel explained that he knew Scott previously through an introduction by Emanuel's cousin, but that he did not know Raym previously (<u>Id</u>.).

[by Mr. Emanuel] No.

Q Did you ever hear Mr. Lightbourne confess to Mr. Chavers anything about a rape?

A No.

А

Q How about anything about a burglary?

A No, no more than they was talking about - they got a store called the Big Apple right out there on 40. I think he knowed Lightbourne from that club because everyone hung out there. <u>That's all I heard them talk about</u>.

(PC-R3. 922) (emphasis added). Emanuel repeatedly confirmed that Mr. Lightbourne had never confessed to murder or any other crime (<u>Id</u>. at 924; 925). Emanuel acknowledged that he told the police that Mr. Lightbourne had confessed even though it was not true because he was "young" and "really in love with a girl" and "wanted to be out there with her" (<u>Id</u>. at 925).

Emanuel further explained that about two days after Mr. Lightbourne was placed in the cell, he (Emanuel) had a conversation with his cousin who was also incarcerated:

But about two days later or a day, my cousin Otis McBride, he was in the cell with me, and he came back and he come telling me, saying: `You know that Theodore done said that boy killed that lady.' And he said to me - I said: `So what you going to do?' He said: `I'm going to do like Chavers did.'

# So all we did was just said that we heard him say he killed somebody. But we didn't, you know. We just did that to get out of jail, because the police was giving up any kind of deal to get the conviction on him.

 $(\underline{Id}.)$  (emphasis added). Shortly after Chavers told law enforcement officers that he heard Mr. Lightbourne say he had murdered someone, Mr. Lightbourne was moved out of the cell (PC-R3. 924). At that time, officers started pulling inmates out of the cell one-by-one to determine if anyone else heard a confession ( $\underline{Id}.$ ). When Emanuel was pulled out to talk to the officers, he told them he heard Mr. Lightbourne confess ( $\underline{Id}.$ ). Emanuel reiterated that he told the officers this information even though he never heard Mr. Lightbourne confessing to a murder (PC-R3. 925). Emanuel stated that he was told by the officers his testimony was not needed, and his charges were then dropped ( $\underline{Id}.$ ).

Emanuel further explained that he had previously been represented by Assistant State Attorney Reginald Black in 1980-81 in connection with his pending charges. During that representation, specifically during a court appearance in January 1981, Emanuel told Mr. Black that he was working on some cases with the police including Mr. Lightbourne's case and he expected to have his case dropped in return for his help (PC-R3. 926).

On cross-examination, Emanuel confirmed that Eddie Scott and Keith Raym came to speak with him about Mr. Lightbourne's case in January, 1981, and told him they would drop charges against him if he could get Mr. Lightbourne to confess while in the Marion County Jail (PC-R3. 933-34). The State introduced the court files from Emanuel's cases: State Exhibit 2 was Case No. 77-1169 (violation of probation); and State Exhibit 3 was Case No. 80-568 (burglary, in which Emanuel and his cousin, Otis McBride, were co-defendants) (PC-R3. 934-35). As to the 1977 case, involving dealing with stolen property, Emanuel confirmed he was on probation for that charge when he was arrested again in 1981 (Id. at 936-37). Emanuel did not know when Mr. Lightbourne had been arrested (Id.). Emanuel reiterated that it was Scott and Raym with whom he spoke about Mr. Lightbourne, believed that they were working on Mr. Lightbourne's case, and also knew that "they was also investigating me" (Id. at 941-42). Emanuel knew Scott and Raym previously, because his cousin, Otis McBride, "was working with them" (Id. at 943). The State then showed Emanuel that the 1980 burglary of a dentist office case was nolle prossed on December 9, 1980 (Id. at 945), and questioned how Emanuel could have been in the jail and had his charges dropped in exchange for information against Mr. Lightbourne when the charge was

8

dropped before the O'Farrell murder ( $\underline{Id}$ . at 945-46).6 Emanuel received no written agreement with respect to his cooperation with the police in Mr. Lightbourne's case ( $\underline{Id}$ . at 948).

The State showed Emanuel an immunity agreement signed by Emanuel, Eddie Scott, and Frederick LaTorre, on January 23, 1981 (<u>Id</u>. at 952-55) (State Exhibit 6). The immunity agreement was in the Sonny Boy Oats case (<u>Id</u>. at 956).7 Emanuel also identified a statement he have on January 23, 1981, in the Oats case (<u>Id</u>. at 962) (State Exhibit 7). Eddie Scott and Assistant State Attorney Ray Gill were present at the statement (<u>Id</u>. at 962-63). Emanuel could not recall if the statement he gave in the Oats case was the only statement that he gave about a homicide to Eddie Scott (<u>Id</u>. at 966). However, Emanuel was resolute in his testimony that he did speak to law enforcement also about Mr. Lightbourne's case:

 $\rm Q$   $\,$  I mean, did you ever tell a law enforcement person that Ian Lightbourne had admitted to such-and-such? Did you ever tell them that? Could you say that positively now, after I showed you the Sonny Boy Oats stuff?

- A At the time I did say that.
- Q You think you did?
- A <u>No. I know I did</u>.

 Q
 So you did talk to some law enforcement agency - agent about Ian

 A
 During the time he was in the Marion County Jail?

 Q
 Yes, sir.

 A
 Yes, I did.

(PC-R3. 968) (emphasis added). Despite the attempts to confuse him, Emanuel reiterated once again that he "knew" that he told law enforcement that Mr. Lightbourne had confessed (<u>Id</u>. at 968).

The State then questioned Emanuel about the statement he gave in the Oats case, and Mr. Lightbourne's counsel objected and re-raised his objection to the conflict of interest ( $\underline{Id}$ . at 969). After the court overruled the objection, the prosecutor told the court that he was only going to ask Emanuel "whether or not he told the truth" in his statement to the police about the Oats case ( $\underline{Id}$ .). Mr. Lightbourne's counsel again objected to questions going to the merits of the Oats case because "we're having a problem again with the conflict" ( $\underline{Id}$ . at 970). The prosecutor proffered that he believed that Emanuel will say that "everything he said in this statement here was not true"; Mr. Lightbourne's counsel reiterated that if this was the case, then a conflict of interest was apparent, and he renewed his motion to withdraw, which was denied ( $\underline{Id}$ .). The State then questioned Emanuel about his participation in the Oats case, with Mr. Lightbourne's counsel repeatedly objecting ( $\underline{Id}$ . at 971-73).

Emanuel also was questioned about the affidavit he signed after representatives from CCR came to see him in 1994 (<u>Id</u>. at 973-76). After accusing Emanuel of being "misleading" because he was supposedly not in the jail when Mr. Lightbourne had been arrested (<u>id</u>. at 977-78), Emanuel responded that the prosecutor was "blowing the dates out of proportion" and he could not recall "step-for-step" the exact chronology of his cases (<u>Id</u>. at 978-79). When the prosecutor attempted this tactic again, Emanuel repeatedly responded that "he's misleading me on the dates" (<u>Id</u>. at 983).

The State next asked Emanuel regarding his legal representation in 1980-81; however, the State only

<sup>6</sup>The State was misleading Emanuel, as the truth is that Emanuel was re-arrested in January, 1981, for another burglary case. This was clarified on redirect examination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Mr. Oats' case also arose out of Marion County. <u>See Oats v.</u> <u>State</u>, 446 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 1984); <u>Oats v. State</u>, 472 So. 2d 1142 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 474 U.S. 865 (1985).

questioned Mr. Emanuel on charges which he was arrested for in June 1980 and based on that court file (Case No. 80-568 B) concluded that that was the only case for which Reginald Black represented Mr. Emanuel (<u>Id</u>. at 985). Emanuel could not recall on which cases Black represented him (<u>Id</u>. at 934).

The State went back to questioning Emanuel about the Oats case; Emanuel confirmed that he did not testify at either the Oats or Lightbourne trials (<u>Id</u>. at 990). Emanuel reiterated that he knew Chavers as "a big liar, and he would, he would tell a lie to save himself or get out of jail, and wouldn't care who it hurt in the process" (<u>Id</u>. at 991). Emanuel also re-emphasized that "I was sitting there and I never did hear [Mr. Lightbourne] say that" (<u>Id</u>.).

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