# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE,

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

CASE NO. SC01-553

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Thus, the State disputes Lightbourne's assertion (IB 56, emphasis in original) that the "only evidence that Mr. Lightbourne allegedly shot O'Farrell because she could identify him came from Carson's testimony."

eliminate the sole witnesses to his actions"); <u>Card v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 17, 18, 24 (Fla. 1984) ( victim assaulted in a more publicly visible location, then driven to a more remote spot about eight miles away, where she was killed; "appellant knew the victim and she could have identified him").

HAC was corroborated with evidence independent of an informant, where Lightbourne shot her execution-style through a pillow after breaking in and raping her. See Hartley v. State, 686 So.2d 1316, 1323 (Fla. 1996) ("Execution-style killings are not generally HAC unless the state has presented other evidence to show some physical or mental torture of the victim"). Compare Knight v. State, 746 So.2d 423, 435-36 (Fla. 1998) ("simply is no evidence of what took place between the victims and Knight during the trip in the automobile before the execution-style killings took place"; evidence insufficient for HAC but harmless).

Accordingly, the postconviction recantation evidence from the informants is totally unworthy of belief and key aspects of the trial evidence from these informants remains credible and supportive of the death penalty. This analysis comports with the presumption of correctness Judge Angel's order, as well as the presumption of correctness of Judge Swigert's death sentence order.

Second, ultimately, it is the death sentence rendered by Judge Swigert that is contested here; it is not just Judge Angel's 2001 findings that are at issue here. As Judge Angel found, Judge Swigert's death sentence, at issue, comports with his disbelief

of the jailhouse informants, also at issue. Judge Angel observed the informants when they were untruthful in their recantation. Since their recantation was untruthful and since the fact-finder believed them at trial in key aspects of their testimony, their trial testimony, in those key respects, was truthful.

Third, <u>arguendo</u>, contrary to Lightbourne's willingness to leap from the face of Judge Angel's Order to a conclusion that he is entitled to a new penalty proceeding, any supposed ambiguity in the Order, if it is not resolved in a manner comporting with the presumptions of correctness of both circuit judges' orders and if it is otherwise consequential to the outcome here, should be resolved by remanding the case to Judge Angel to clarify the order.

The State must acknowledge this Court's prior conclusion that "it [is] more difficult to discount the probable effect the evidence would have on the penalty phase because of the potential significance of Chavers' and Carson's testimony as to several of the aggravators," 742 So.2d at 249. The opinion continued, Id.:

Without their graphic testimony of what Lightbourne allegedly told them, there is serious doubt about at least two of these aggravators—HAC and committed to avoid arrest. We simply cannot ignore this cumulative picture and the effect it may have had on the imposition of the death penalty.

However, given the panoply of non-informant evidence establishing weighty aggravation in this case (e.g., the cut telephone wires, the cut screen and broken window, the execution-style killing with the pillow, Lightbourne's semen found in the

victim, <sup>10</sup> and the known identity of the killer to the victim's family), such a remand would be unnecessary under any circumstances.

Moreover, this Court recognizes CCP and HAC as strong aggravation. See Larkins v. State, 739 So.2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999)

Viable sperm and semen traces were discovered in the victim's vagina indicating sexual relations at approximately the time of death. The Defendant's blood type was consistent with semen and blood tests and factors present therein as testified by experts. Pubic hair found at the crime scene microscopically matched with those of the Defendant's.

<u>Id.</u>, at 391. This evidence was recognized again in <u>Lightbourne</u> IV, at 59 n.4.

Thus, the State disputes Lightbourne's assertion (IB 56, emphasis in original) that "Chavers and Carson were the <u>only</u> source of information that a sexual battery occurred."

As in previous proceedings, Lightbourne contends (IB 58 n. 23) that the "State conceded at the 1995 hearing that there was no other evidence, aside from Chavers and Carson, proving sexual assault." As Assistant Attorney General Mark Dunn pointed out at length in his Answer Brief, pp. 83-84, SC #89,526, this is incorrect:

Lightbourne asserts ... that '[t]he State conceded at the 1995 hearing that there was no other evidence, aside from Mr. Chavers and Mr. Gallman/Carson, proving a sexual assault (PC-R2. 672).' On October 24, 1995, Ms. Bailey argued: 'We did have evidence of a sexual battery from Mr. Carson and Chavers, but we're still left with the burglary being established by totally different evidence.' In her posthearing memorandum she commented at p. 15, fn.6, the testimony of Gallman (and Chavers) was the only evidence of sexual battery. However, on the next page she stated 'there was some independent evidence (sperm found in vagina and on bedspread matched Lightbourne OR/715-16, 1092-93). At the hearing on Lightbourne's Motion for Reconsideration, conducted October 31, 1996, undersigned counsel voiced a correction for the record regarding Ms. Bailey's comments on the sexual battery proof, citing this Court's language in Lightbourne I:

(HAC and CCP "are two of the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory sentencing scheme").

The strong aggravation vastly outweighed the non-statutory mitigation that "defendant was twenty-one years old at the time of the crime and had no significant history of prior criminal activity," 438 So.2d at 390. 11

# E. Conclusion: No relief is justified under any theory.

The issue on remand was whether Lightbourne's claims merit a new penalty phase. Lightbourne now contends (IB 54-65, 67-68) that the postconviction record establishes violations of <u>United States v. Henry</u>, 447 U.S. 264 (1980), <sup>12</sup> <u>Giglio v. United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150(1972), and <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). He is incorrect.

<u>Lightbourne</u>, 742 So.2d at 247 (footnote omitted), summarized these principles in the context of this case:

A Henry violation is established when police improperly use a jailhouse informant to elicit statements from a defendant in violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel, see 447 U.S. at 274, 100 S.Ct. 2183, and Giglio is violated when the state knowingly presents false testimony. See 405 U.S. at 154-55, 92 S.Ct. 763. Because Lightbourne's Brady

Lightbourne v. State, 471 So.2d 27, 28 (Fla. 1985), held that "[c]ounsel was not ineffective for failing to present mitigating evidence at sentencing. The trial record clearly indicates that the sentencing judge was in fact aware of many of the mitigating factors that counsel on appeal is now presenting to the Court."

Lightbourne acknowledges (IB 68) that his <u>Henry</u> claim has been resolved against him. Even though the prior resolution bars it here, in an abundance of caution, the State continues to address it.

claim is based on the alleged violations of *Henry* and *Giglio*, unless Carson's recanted testimony that the police solicited and used his false testimony is credible, Lightbourne's Brady claim cannot be established.

Here, the trial court's findings that reject the postconviction evidence from the former inmates are fatal to these claims: There is no credible evidence that the police used Chavers or Carson to elicit statements from Lightbourne or that Chavers or Carson was lying at trial as to key (uncorroborated) facts and that the State had any knowledge of any such lies. Therefore, "Lightbourne's Brady claim cannot be established."

Moreover, as discussed above, the State maintains that key aspects of Chavers and Carson's trial testimony remain credible, especially given the non-informant evidence, thereby alternatively disposing of Lightbourne's <a href="Giglio">Giglio</a> and <a href="Brady">Brady</a> claims.

Concerning newly discovered evidence, Lightbourne, 742 So.2d at 247, explained that Jones v. State, 709 So.2d 512, 521-22 (Fla. 1998), requires "the trial court ... to 'consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible' at trial and then evaluate the 'weight of both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence which was introduced at the trial' in determining whether the evidence would probably produce a different result on retrial." However, as block-quoted supra, Jones, quoting Spaziano, also holds that the trial court's findings are entitled to deference where the record supports them. Here, the trial court's observations of Chavers and Carson are now buttressed by its observations of Emanuel. The State submits that, if Lightbourne were to present their postconviction testimony to the

jury, the result would be the same. Indeed, given their current discredited status (as discussed above), they would affirmatively harm Lightbourne's cause. Further, the trial court correctly observed that they had already been significantly impeached at trial, but corroborative and other evidence was so sufficiently weighty that the death penalty would have remained the outcome, especially given the weighty aggravator of CCP.

Lightbourne contends (IB 61, 62) that because the evidence is now "overwhelming," he is entitled to relief. The State disagrees. The evidence is "underwhelming" because the new evidence is essentially non-existent, rendering the posture of this case as it was prior to the evidentiary hearings. Emanuel's lack of credibility renders it entirely insignificant. Larry Emanuel's evidentiary hearing testimony does not accumulate with anything else.

Lightbourne has failed to meet his burden to establish that the result of the penalty phase would probably produce a different result.

As in <u>Stano v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 271, 276 (Fla. 1998, the State submits that this Court should

agree with the trial court that even if this evidence were considered newly discovered evidence for the reasons previously stated, the evidence would not make an acquittal [here, of the death penalty] at a retrial probable.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER A SPECIFIC PROSECUTOR'S LIMITED ROLE IN THESE POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS DENIED LIGHTBOURNE EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS. (Restated)

Lightbourne claims that assistant state attorney Reginald Black's involvement on the postconviction proceedings denied him equal protection and due process because Emanuel told Black about "what was going on with Mr. Lightbourne's case" and because Black attempted to ensure that "Larry Emanuel never got into a witness chair" (IB 73). This claim is groundless and entirely inconsequential. At the outset, the State notes that Lightbourne has failed to specify a constitutionally cognizable class, rendering any equal protection claim fatally flawed.

As to both equal protection and due process, Prosecutor Black's role as Emanuel's attorney in 1981 has not prejudiced Lightbourne even one iota.

ISSUE II is devoid of any showing that Black's momentary representation of Emanuel provided any benefit to the State whatsoever here; instead, Black lacked any memory of anything significant pertaining to his representation of Emanuel (PCR VII 1026-49), and, as such, Black's limited and earlier involvement in this case (See IB 72 n. 72) was simply that of an experienced prosecutor, unaffected by his representation of Emanuel. Indeed, as such, he properly instigated the rapid action that ensured Emanuel's presence at the 1999 hearing. (See PCR1999 VII 1036-

See generally <u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 909, 916 (Fla. 2000) ("the ex parte communication involved the judge

47) Thus, subsequent to Emanuel's return to Ocala at his instigation, Black had done "nothing of substance" in this case. (PCR1999 VII 1047) At the 1999 hearing, Lightbourne called Black as his witness. (Id. at 1026)

Contrary to Lightbourne's suggestion (IB 73-74), Black did not act as an advocate at the 1999 hearing. Prosecutor Rock Hooker handled the hearing.

Further, as discussed at length, and as supported at length with citations to the record, under ISSUE I, Emanuel is unworthy of belief in any event.

Even erroneously accepting most of Emanuel's testimony at face value on this point, Lightbourne has not established that Emanuel ever discussed with Black any details whatsoever concerning this case. For example, Emanuel testified at the 1999 hearing:

Q [direct exam] Now, did there come a time when you had any discussion with Mr. Black about your involvement with Mr. Lightbourne's case?

A Yeah. I had told him that I had been working with the police department on some cases. And the burglary cases that I had, the second one that I had, they threw it out because it was a trespassing. \*\*\*

Q [cross exam] So, really, sitting here now, your own memory is that you're really not sure when Reggie Black represented you?

A (Shaking head.)

setting a time period for the State to file its response to Arbelaez's 3.850 motion"; "fall into the category of strictly administrative matters that are not prohibited"); <a href="Barwick v.State">Barwick v.State</a>, 660 So.2d 685, 692 (Fla. 1995) (not all communications outside the presence of opposing counsel are legally cognizable as "ex parte"); <a href="Rose v. State">Rose v. State</a>, 601 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1992) (communications pertaining to "strictly administrative matters").

- Q [redirect exam] You had testified on direct examination that you had -- that you remember talking to Mr. Black about what you had done in Mr. Lightbourne's case; is that correct?
  - A Yes.
  - Q And is that still your testimony?
  - A Yes, that's still my testimony.
- Q And so **if** you had spoken to Mr. Black about what the police had done with you regarding Mr. Lightbourne, would that have been after you would have been put in the cell with Mr. Lightbourne?
- A Yes, that was after then they put me in there. And after they didn't use my statement, they used Chavers' statement, it was like they just -- they really --

Like I said, in the deposition, they crossed me out, because they used -- they didn't use my statement, but they had me in there, trying to help them get what they wanted.

Q [further redirect exam] Because as you're sitting here today, we've thrown a lot of dates at you and everything else. But is it clear in your mind that you had a conversation with Reginald Black regarding Mr. Lightbourne?

A That's right.

(PCR1999 VII 926, 984-85, 1005-1006, 1024) In contrast to showing that Mr. Black had any knowledge at any time about police solicitation of inmates, Emanuel, when not asked a leading question, simply stated, "I had told him that I had been working with the police department on some cases."

Counsel for the State and Lightbourne agreed to put Emanuel's deposition "in." (PCR VII 1020) In his deposition, Emanuel clearly stated that he did not tell Black any details concerning Lightbourne's case. In Emanuel's words to Black, "I didn't tell you what I had done." (PCR1996Sup I 159) At another point, Emanuel swore that he had not told anyone else about the Lightbourne case except officers Scott and "Rain." (Id. at 139. See also Id. at 142)

The foregoing **evidence** belies Lightbourne's bald and groundless assertions ( $\underline{E.g.}$ , IB 70 n. 29, 74, 75) that Black was attempting to hide anything of value from any court.

As a matter of general policy, if a lawyer becoming a witness in order to establish that he is not a true witness disqualifies him from the role of counsel, chaos will ensue, and the judicial process will be held hostage to the whim of an opposing party to simply make the accusation.

Here, Black recalled nothing of value from Emanuel, and Emanuel had told him nothing of value. Black was not a material witness to anything.

Thus, this Court expressly noted in passing and without concern, that this claim was raised that last time it reviewed the case:

On appeal, Lightbourne alleges five errors: \*\*\* (5) Lightbourne's due process and equal protection rights were violated by the participation of an assistant state attorney who may have been a material witness.

<u>Lightbourne</u>, 742 So.2d at 245. As a successive claim, this issue is procedurally barred.

#### ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED BY DENYING COLLATERAL COUNSEL'S REQUEST TO WITHDRAW FROM REPRESENTING LIGHTBOURNE DUE TO HIS REPRESENTATION OF A DEFENDANT WHOM A WITNESS IN THIS PROCEEDING HAD AGREED TO TESTIFY AGAINST APPROXIMATELY TWENTY YEARS AGO (Restated)

This claim is based upon the CCRC attorney's representation of Sonny Boy Oats.

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